RECEIVED

01-06-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN THE SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos: 2012AP1769-CR and 2012AP1770-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

MARTIN P. O'BRIEN, and KATHLEEN M. O'BRIEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioners.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONERS

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT II COURT OF APPEALS DECISION, AFFIRMING NON-FINAL ORDERS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY

Atty. Kathleen M. Quinn	BUTING, WILLIAMS &
SB# 1025117	STILLING, S.C.
	Atty. Jerome F. Buting
Atty. for Kathleen M. O'Brien	Atty. for Martin P. O'Brien
Address:	Address:
207 E. Buffalo St., #514	400 N. Executive Dr.,#205

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Must hearsay admitted at a preliminary hearing under newly enacted Sec. 970.038, Wis. Stats., meet a threshold level of reliability before a court can use it to find probable cause, and if so, should this Court provide guidance to the lower courts in making such a reliability determination?

Circuit Court: No. Court of Appeals: No.

2. At a preliminary hearing, can the State satisfy its burden of showing the higher degree of probable cause needed to bindover a felony for trial by relying solely on a hearsay witness who offers the criminal complaint, for which a lesser degree of probable cause is required?

Circuit Court: Yes. Court of Appeals: Yes.

3. Can a court rely on the recent enactment of Sec. 970.038, Wis Stats., to limit defense cross-examination of a hearsay witness to the question of whether that witness heard the hearsay, rather than the plausibility of the out-of-court declarant's account of the underlying offense?

Circuit Court: Yes.

Court of Appeals: No, but the court of appeals decision, as a

practical matter, eviscerates a defendant's ability to cross examine any hearsay

witness at a preliminary hearing.

4. Following the recent enactment of Sec. 970.038, before the defendant can call his own witness at a preliminary hearing, must the defense make an offer of proof that the

testimony will be dispositive to defeat probable cause, rather than simply relevant to the plausibility of the charged offense?

Circuit Court: Yes.

Court of Appeals: Did not address.

5. Did the preliminary hearing court's application of Sec. 970.038, which admitted multiple levels of hearsay and precluded the defendant from calling the out-of-court declarant to test his ability to see, hear and remember the relevant facts pertaining to his story, violate the defendant's right to due process by rendering the preliminary hearing a meaningless exercise?

Circuit Court: No. Court of Appeals: No.

6. Should this Court rule that a defendant's constitutional right to confront his accusers applies at an adversary-type preliminary hearing such as that granted by Wisconsin statutes?

Circuit Court: Did not address.
Court of Appeals: Did not address.

7. Is a defendant's right to the effective assistance of counsel at a preliminary hearing denied when the state's only evidence offered is the criminal complaint and the defendant is not allowed to cross-examine anyone with personal knowledge?

Circuit Court: No. Court of Appeals: No.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication in this Court is typically granted and is requested by the O'Briens.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July, 2011, the O'Briens' runaway adopted seventeen year old son was apprehended and thereafter made a number of accusations of mistreatment by his parents. This led the State to charge both defendants in a joint criminal complaint (APP 117-27) with numerous counts of child abuse and related offenses alleged to have taken place over eight years involving the seventeen year old and his adopted siblings. Statements from that son formed the sole basis for seven of the ten felony counts.

Before the preliminary examination, both defendants moved to preclude the use of hearsay at that hearing, arguing that they were entitled to confront and cross-examine the primary accuser, their seventeen year old son. The defendants argued that the use of hearsay, pursuant to the recently enacted § 970.038, as the exclusive evidence to support a bindover, given the complex facts and expansive charging period in this case, would violate their constitutional and statutory rights to confrontation, compulsory process and the effective assistance of counsel. The circuit court denied the defense motions.

At the preliminary hearing, the State presented only one witness – a police investigator who had signed the criminal complaint. The State moved the complaint into evidence and rested. (R. 30:13; App. 179). On cross examination, the investigator admitted that the only child she interviewed was the seventeen year old runaway, that the complaint contained significant factual gaps, and that the incidents described were only summaries, not verbatim accounts. (R. 30:16-18; App. 182-

84). Defense counsel tried to get the investigator to fill in the gaps and describe additional facts to provide context regarding the time, place and sequence of events, but the court sustained many of the repeated State's objections that the questions were "discovery." (R. 30: 18, 20-22, 23, 26-27, 28, 40, 47; App. 185, 186-188, 189, 192-193, 194, 206, 213). When the witness was permitted to answer, she was frequently unable to recall any facts not found in the criminal complaint. (R. 30: 19-20, 24, 25, 32-33, 34, 35, 39; App. 185-186, 190, 191, 198-199, 200, 205).

After the State rested, the defendants sought to call the seventeen year old, S.M.O., who was subpoenaed by the defense and was available to testify. The State moved to quash the defense subpoena and demanded an offer of proof of testimony the defense would elicit from the witness that "could defeat probable cause," in other words, an offer of proof that the testimony would be not only *relevant* but *dispositive*. (R. 30: 55-57; App. 221-23).

Defense counsel responded that the proffered witness could describe the details and context of the alleged incidents so that the court could determine whether the alleged physical contacts may have been inadvertent, unintentional or accidental. (R. 30: 60-61; APP 226-27). Counsel argued that she did not intend to challenge the witness's truthfulness or credibility, but that "information about the actual account of what happened" was relevant to the court's decision about whether the story was plausible. *Id*.

The court sustained the State's objection, precluded any testimony from the defense subpoenaed witness, and bound over for trial on all counts. (R. 30: 88; APP 254) Following bindover, both defendants petitioned the court of appeals for interlocutory review, which was granted. The court of appeals affirmed, in a decision dated July 17, 2013 (APP 101-116).

The court of appeals ruled that a defendant has no constitutional "right to confront the adverse witnesses at a preliminary hearing," relying on this Court's brief statement in *Mitchell v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 325, 267 N.W.2d 349 (1978), which, as argued below, misread the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Gerstein v. Pugh*. APP at 110, ¶ 16. The court concluded that the confrontation clause in the Sixth Amendment was "basically a trial right," and therefore "the question is whether admitting hearsay evidence at the preliminary examination and basing the probable cause finding upon hearsay violates 'the right to a fair *trial* guaranteed by [due process]." APP 108, ¶ 11, citing *State v. Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 69.

The court of appeals also rejected the defendants' argument that the preliminary hearing court's rulings truncating cross examination of the State's witness and precluding the defense from calling its subpoenaed witness violated their statutory right to cross examination and compulsory process. The court disagreed with the State's argument that the new statute limited the defendant's ability to call or cross-examine witnesses, instead ruling that the enactment of § 970.038 "left unchanged" those other statutory rights granted the defense in § 970.03 (5). (APP 112, ¶ 21). But the court ruled the preliminary judge properly restricted cross-examination and quashed the defense subpoena. (APP 113, ¶ 22).

The court of appeals concluded that the "new statute does not necessarily make cross-examination a useless exercise," because the plausibility standard "does not require a trial court to ignore blatant credibility problems." (APP 114, at ¶ 24). The court gave no hint of what sort of "blatant credibility" problem would be sufficient to defeat probable cause, other than one peculiar, hypothetical example given by the preliminary hearing court in this case, discussed later in this brief.

Finally, the court of appeals rejected the defendants' argument that the preliminary hearing court's application of the new statute denied the right to effective assistance of counsel because counsel could not effectively test the plausibility of the State's case without a chance to cross-examine a witness with first person knowledge of the allegations. The court concluded that counsel could provide effective assistance at a preliminary examination "regardless of the type of evidence the prosecution introduces there, by demonstrating why the prosecution has failed to show a plausible theory for prosecution." APP. 114, ¶ 25.

The court of appeals failed to address several other grounds argued by the defendants on appeal, including that the preliminary hearing judge's arbitrary denial or restriction of statutory rights violated constitutional due process. Further, the court of appeals did not address the concern that unfettered use of multiple-level hearsay at a preliminary hearing conflicts with case law that requires a higher degree of probable cause at a preliminary hearing than is required for a criminal complaint.

This Court granted the O'Briens' petition for review on December 5, 2013.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should construe Sec. 970.038 to require a threshold level of reliability before a court can use it to find probable cause, and should prohibit the use of unreliable multiple layers of hearsay in such a finding.

The court of appeals noted that a majority of cases from other jurisdictions allow bindover determinations to rest upon hearsay, APP 111, ¶ 19, citing, e.g., *Peterson v. California*, 604 F.3d 1166, 1167-68 (9th Cir. 2010). The *Peterson* court relied largely on *Whitman v. Superior Court*, 54 Cal.3d 1063, 820 P.2d 262, 265 (1991). In *Whitman*, the California Supreme Court

concluded that California's scheme did not violate the confrontation clause. But California's law has important protections lacking in § 970.038 which preclude the use of mere readers and multiple hearsay.

Unlike California's law, §970.038, contains no prohibition against hearsay offered through a "mere reader." In the O'Briens' case, the officer on cross-examination was frequently unable to recall any facts not in the complaint, which she admitted did not contain verbatim accounts and had significant factual gaps. (R. 30: 18, 19, 20, 24, 32-33; APP 184, 185, 186, 190, 198-199, 205). Thus, defense counsel was unable to explore either the reliability or plausibility of the hearsay statements.¹

Even if this Court finds no constitutional bar against hearsay, as argued *infra* at Section VI, then it should construe §970.038 to prohibit a court from making a finding of probable cause based upon multiple layers of hearsay and to ensure at least a modicum of reliability before considering the hearsay in whole or in part in its finding. Notwithstanding the enactment of §970.038, long-standing rules in Wisconsin regarding personal knowledge still apply. *See* § 906.02. Further, § 970.03 is intended to provide a reliable factual basis for a bindover. The lower courts' interpretation of § 970.038 is in conflict with the primary preliminary hearing purpose.

A statutory interpretation is impermissible if it creates a conflict in the statutes and case law. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681

¹It's worth noting that most of the alleged victims, including the seventeenyear-old son, who provided most of the material for the complaint, were adopted foreign national children, and English was only their secondary language. The plausibility of their accounts and their understanding of English could not be assessed by the preliminary hearing judge because of the use of hearsay.

N.W.2d 110 ("statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results"). A statute should be construed so as to avoid absurd results. *State v. Peete*, 185 Wis.2d 4, 17, 517 N.W.2d 149 (1994). Further, "there must be a strong showing of legislative intent before we will construe a statute in a manner that would create an anomaly in criminal procedure." *State v. Williams*, 198 Wis. 2d 516, 532, 544 N.W.2d 406, 413 (1996), citing *State v. White*, 97 Wis.2d 193, 198, 295 N.W.2d 346 (1980). "The true meaning of a single section of a statute ..., however precise its language, cannot be ascertained if it be considered apart from related sections...." *Id.* at 534, citing *Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Engle*, 464 U.S. 206, 223, 104 S.Ct. 597, 607, 78 L.Ed.2d 420 (1984).

In addition, "when there are conflicting provisions of the statute, they are to be construed so as to harmonize, thereby giving effect to the leading idea behind the statute." State v. Gould, 56 Wis. 2d 808, 812, 202 N.W.2d 903, 905 (1973). In this case, the lower courts are letting "the tail" of § 970.038 "wag the dog" of § 970.03. Given the preliminary hearing judge's interpretation of the statute in this case, it is no wonder the judge concluded "the current statute about hearsay evidence creates a probable cause hearing even more perfunctory, so I'm going to order a bindover." (R. 30: 88; APP 254). Under the scheme proposed by the State and embraced by the preliminary hearing judge, the preliminary examination in this case was perfunctory indeed. But there is no evidence that the legislature intended that result. This Court should construe § 970.038 in a manner that gives substance to the leading idea behind §970.03– to prevent hasty, improvident or malicious prosecutions by ensuring a reliable basis of probable cause.

Since the legislature enacted §970.038 two years ago, many prosecutors have used it to render the preliminary hearing

a nullity. See APP 288-293.² In some courts, like the O'Briens case, this has led to the elimination of testimony from any witness with personal knowledge of the claimed felony conduct in favor of testimony from "reader" or "narrator" witnesses. In one instance the prosecutor called no witness and asked the court to take judicial notice of the criminal complaint.³ In addition, some courts are, like the O'Briens' case, using §970.038 to prevent defendants from calling witnesses with personal knowledge at preliminary hearings on the grounds that testimony of such witnesses - when called by the defense - is not relevant.⁴

This Court has inherent and superintending authority to control the course of litigation in the courts of this state, and to ensure that unreliable evidence is not used in court. *See State v. Dean*, 103 Wis. 2d 228, 279, 307 N.W.2d 628 (1981) (polygraph evidence not reliable). *In re Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 178, 699 N.W.2d 110, 126, (Abrahamson, C.J. concurrence). Thus, this Court should clarify the implementation of §970.038, and preclude the use of hearsay which is unreliable, multiple-tiered and incomplete.

The O'Briens suggest this Court harmonize the new law with existing statute by imposing the following standard:

- (1) to preclude the use of a "mere reader;"
- (2) require testimony or a sworn affidavit by a witness with personal knowledge of the alleged crime;

²Attached to this brief as APP 288 to 293 is the appendix filed by amicus State Public Defender to its Nonparty Brief in Support of Petition for Review, "A Survey of How § 970.038 is Applied in Wisconsin's Courts."

³See APP 292, Richland County Case 12 CF 52.

⁴See APP 291, Rock County Case 13 CF 1275.

- (3) any affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts for a preliminary hearing court to make a reasonable inference that the sources of hearsay are probably truthful, including both the reliability of the declarant and his/her observational opportunity, and must assist the court in assessing the reliability of the statement and the plausibility of the account of the alleged crime;
- (4) provide that any hearsay statements and identifying information be provided to the defendant at least 5 days before the preliminary hearing, so that the defendant may exercise his or her right to subpoena the witness to testify.

This procedure would relieve the state of the burden to subpoena witnesses for all preliminary hearings — most of which are waived -- but preserve the defendant's right under §970.03(5) to call the witness in those cases where the defense chooses to challenge the plausibility of the hearsay account.⁵

Also, the statute must be interpreted in the context of 970.03(5), which allows cross-examination and defense witnesses. If the Court allows the routine use of hearsay, the defense must be afforded its right to present defense witnesses – including the hearsay declarant – to counter the hearsay by showing it is not sufficiently reliable for the court to find probable cause, or that the events, when placed in context, may not even constitute a crime. The preliminary hearing judge did neither in the O'Briens' case, so the bindover must be vacated.

⁵See, APP 280-281, and *infra*, Section V.1, for discussion of similar proposed legislation in the 1982 Judicial Council Report of Preliminary Examinations Committee.

This Court should also overrule, or at least prevent any further extension of the court of appeals decision in *State v*. *Padilla*, 110 Wis. 2d 414, 329 N.W.2d 263 (Ct. App. 1982). In that case, the court of appeals allowed hearsay testimony from a young child's mother at the preliminary hearing because the testimony fit a firmly rooted hearsay exception for excited utterance. *Id.* at 418-22. By contrast, the hearsay allowed in the O'Briens' case fit no historically rooted exception, and had no particular indicia of reliability.

The *Padilla* court analyzed whether the hearsay violated the defendant's *statutory* right to confrontation, 6 concluding that "the statute permits cross-examination of only those people actually called to the stand." *Id.* at 424. When *Padilla* was decided, only hearsay exceptions and limited reliable hearsay were allowed at a preliminary hearing. Now, since the enactment of § 970.038, prosecutors all over the state are making a mockery of the preliminary hearing process by putting a single witness on the stand who cannot be effectively cross-examined, thus depriving the court from exercising any role as a check on prosecutorial power, a long-standing purpose of the preliminary hearing.

II. The lower court decisions eliminate the higher degree of probable cause needed for bindover compared to the lower degree needed for a criminal complaint.

The court of appeals failed to address the O'Briens' argument that the preliminary hearing court's rulings were inconsistent with long-standing case law which holds that the

⁶The *Padilla* court did not analyze whether the *constitutional* right to confrontation should have barred the hearsay, because it deemed the question foreclosed by *Mitchell*. 110 Wis. 2d at 422. As argued *infra*, at Section VI, the O'Briens submit that this Court should reconsider and clarify the *Mitchell* decision.

probable cause required for a bindover must be greater than that necessary in a criminal complaint. See T.R.B. v. State, 109 Wis.2d 179, 188, 325 N.W.2d 329 (1982); County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, 323, 603 N.W.2d 541, 555 (1999) Taylor v. State, 55 Wis. 2d 168, 173, 197 N.W.2d 805 (1972).

Hearsay is permitted in a criminal complaint only if the complaint includes sufficient underlying facts for a magistrate to make a reasonable inference that the sources of hearsay are probably truthful, including both the reliability of the informant and his/her observational opportunity. See State ex rel Cullen v. Ceci, 45 Wis.2d 432, 445, 173 N.W.2d 175 (1970); State ex rel Evanow v. Seraphim, 40 Wis.2d 223, 226, 161 N.W.2d 369 (1968); State v. Knudson, 51 Wis.2d 270, 274, 187 N.W.2d 321 (1971). Contrast that with the State's and lower courts' interpretation of § 970.038, which would allow double, triple or otherwise unreliable hearsay at a preliminary hearing as the exclusive grounds for probable cause to bindover. Further, by law a complaint must be sworn, § 968.01. But under § 970.038, hearsay is admissible even if unsworn.

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