RECEIVED

01-24-2014

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN
IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2012AP1769-CR
2012AP1770-CR
2012AP1863-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARTIN P. O'BRIEN,
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KATHLEEN M. O'BRIEN,
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES E. BUTTS,
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS
AFFIRMING NONFINAL ORDERS ENTERED IN THE WALWORTH
COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN R. RACE,
PRESIDING, AND THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE
HONORABLE ANTHONY G. MILISAUKAS, PRESIDING

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the briefs of defendants-appellants Martin P. O'Brien, Kathleen M. O'Brien, and Charles E. Butts, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

In these consolidated permissive appeals, defendants-appellants-petitioners Martin P. O'Brien, Kathleen M. O'Brien, and Charles E. Butts challenge the constitutionality of the recently enacted Wis. Stat. § 970.038 (2011-12).¹

¹The O'Briens are charged with multiple counts of physical abuse of a child and disorderly conduct (No. 2012AP1769-CR: 16:1-5). They appeal from an order binding them over for trial following a preliminary hearing and denying their motion to preclude the use of hearsay evidence at the preliminary hearing (2012AP1769-CR: 14:1; O'Briens' Ap. 112). They also appeal from an order granting the State's motion to quash a subpoena issued to a witness that the O'Briens wished to call at the preliminary hearing (2012AP1769-CR: 14A:1; O'Briens' Ap. 113).

Butts is charged with multiple counts of sexual assault of a child and child enticement (No. 2012AP1863-

That statute makes hearsay admissible at preliminary hearings, *see* Wis. Stat. § 970.038(1), and permits the court to base a finding of probable cause on hearsay evidence, *see* Wis. Stat. § 970.038(2).²

In the court of appeals, the O'Briens' lead argument was that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 is unconstitutional. *See* O'Briens' court of appeals brief at 5-13. In this court, they make that their final argument. *See* O'Briens' brief at 32-38. Because the constitutional challenge to the statute is the common thread between the Butts and O'Brien cases, the State will discuss the constitutional issues first and then discuss the O'Briens' non-constitutional arguments.

Before addressing the constitutional challenges to the new statute, the State notes that prior to the statute's enactment, hearsay was admissible at preliminary hearings in several circumstances. For example, the court could admit hearsay at a preliminary hearing "to prove

CR: 27:1-2). He also has been bound over for trial following a preliminary hearing (No. 2012AP1863-CR: 32-2:19), but his appeal is from an order entered prior to the preliminary hearing that denied his motion challenging the constitutionality of the statute (No. 2012AP1863-CR: 21:1, 30:1-2; Butts' Ap. 105).

²Wisconsin Stat. § 970.038 (2011-12) provides:

970.038 (1) Notwithstanding s. 908.02, hearsay is admissible in a preliminary examination under ss. 970.03, 970.032, and 970.035.

(2) A court may base its finding of probable cause under s. 970.03(7) or (8), 970.032(2), or 970.035 in whole or in part on hearsay admitted under sub. (1).

ownership of property or lack of consent to entry to or possession or destruction of property or to prove any element under s. 943.201(2) or 943.203(2).” Wis. Stat. § 970.03(11) (2009-10). And under Wis. Stat. § 970.03(14)(b) (2009-10), the court was required to admit (“the court shall admit”) at a preliminary examination “an audiovisual recording of a statement” by a child that satisfied the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3); the statute further provided that “[t]he child who makes the statement need not be called as a witness and, under the circumstances specified in s. 908.08(5)(b), may not be compelled to undergo cross-examination.”

Section 970.03(14)(b) was enacted nearly twenty years ago, *see* 1993 Wis. Act 98, § 145, and remains the law today, *see* Wis. Stat. § 970.03(14)(b) (2011-12). Thus, while the new statute significantly broadens the circumstances in which hearsay may be admitted at a preliminary hearing to establish probable cause, it does not introduce a new concept to preliminary hearings in Wisconsin, particularly in cases that, like the Butts and O’Briens cases, involve alleged child victims.

It is also worth noting that the use of hearsay to establish probable cause at a preliminary examination is not unique to Wisconsin. “The probable cause finding at a federal preliminary examination may be based upon hearsay evidence in whole or in part.” *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis. 2d 74, 118, 457 N.W.2d 299 (1990) (Heffernan, C.J., concurring); *see also United States v. Adeyeye*, 359 F.3d 457, 460-61 (7th Cir. 2004) (“federal law is now clear that a finding of probable cause can be based upon hearsay”). Other states follow the same rule. *See*,

e.g., *Schiermeister v. Riskedahl*, 449 N.W.2d 566, 569 (N.D. 1989); *State v. Haught*, 371 S.E.2d 54, 61 (W. Va. 1988). The Wisconsin legislature broke no new legal ground when it enacted Wis. Stat. § 970.038.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that an appellate court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Jorgensen*, 2003 WI 105, ¶14, 264 Wis. 2d 157, 667 N.W.2d 318.

Legislative enactments are generally entitled to a presumption of constitutionality. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶11, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328. In light of that “strong presumption,” a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute “faces a heavy burden” of “prov[ing] that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* “It is insufficient to merely establish doubt as to an act’s constitutionality nor is it sufficient to establish the act is probably constitutional.” *Id.* (quoting *Quinn v. Town of Dodgeville*, 122 Wis. 2d 570, 577, 364 N.W.2d 149 (1985)). If any doubt remains, this court must uphold the statute as constitutional. *Id.*

II. THERE IS NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION AT A PRELIMINARY HEARING.

Butts and the O’Briens argue that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 violates their constitutional right to confrontation. That contention fails in light of a

long line of cases that hold that the constitutional right of confrontation is a trial right and that the constitutional right to confrontation is not violated by the use of out-of-court statements at a preliminary examination even if the defendant is unable to cross-examine the declarant.

This court held in *Mitchell v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 325, 267 N.W.2d 349 (1978), that defendants do not have a constitutional right to confront witnesses at preliminary hearings.

The defendant next argues that the erroneous admission of the hearsay declarations of Hurst at the preliminary examination violated his right to confront the witnesses against him. As the state points out, there is no constitutional right to confront adverse witnesses at a preliminary examination. *Gerstein v. Pugh*, 420 U.S. 103, 119, 120 (1975); *See also: Barber v. Page*, 390 U.S. 719, 725 (1968).

Id. at 336. The court did note, however, that in Wisconsin an accused has a statutory right to confront witnesses at the preliminary examination. *See id.*

The court of appeals discussed and applied *Mitchell* in *State v. Padilla*, 110 Wis. 2d 414, 329 N.W.2d 263 (Ct. App. 1982), a case that, like the present cases, involved the use at a preliminary examination of the out-of-court statements of a child victim. In *Padilla*, the defendant was charged with sexual assault of a child. *See id.* at 426. The only witness at the preliminary hearing was the child's mother, who testified about what the child had told her about the assaults. *See id.* at 427.

The court of appeals held that the testimony was admissible as an excited utterance. *See id.* at 418-22. The court then addressed the defendant's claim that even if the child's out-of-court statement was admissible under an exception to the hearsay rule, "there remains a confrontation problem." *Id.* at 422.

Citing *Mitchell's* "clear" holding, the court of appeals held that "[o]f course, there is no constitutional right to confront witnesses at a preliminary examination." *Id.* at 422-23. The court then addressed the statutory right to cross-examination in Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5). The court held that the statutory right to cross-examination covers only the witnesses who actually testify at the preliminary hearing, not hearsay declarants, and that probable cause may be based on admissible hearsay. *See id.* at 423-26. The court explained:

At a preliminary examination, the trier of fact's only duty is to find that the story has a plausible basis. *Wilson v. State*, 59 Wis. 2d 269, 294, 208 N.W.2d 134 (1973). The trier of fact, therefore, is not engaged in determining the truthfulness of the state's case but merely whether, *if believed*, the story has a plausible basis in fact. *Vigil v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 133, 144, 250 N.W.2d 378 (1977). Truthfulness goes to the weight of the evidence, not to admissibility, and is for the jury to determine at trial.

Because truthfulness is not tested at the preliminary examination, we come to the guiding purpose behind cross-examination at the preliminary examination. The witnesses who actually take the stand can be cross-examined as to whether their story is believable, *i.e.*, whether they were in a position to see what they observed, or

whether they were able to hear what they say they heard. Thus, focusing on the issue in this case, the mother could have been and was tested on the stand to determine if she was actually in a position to hear the hearsay declarant make the out-of-court statement, that is, whether she was believable in relating her story, whether she had a good memory of the hearsay statement and whether she was relating it accurately.

So it is the person taking the stand who must tell a plausible story. As part of the plausible story, hearsay may be used by that person. Whether that person may properly use the hearsay as an aid to telling the story is a question of admissibility. If the hearsay hurdle is met and the hearsay statement is admissible under one of the exceptions to the hearsay rule, it may be used by the witness as a probative building block, rather like a piece of documentary evidence, in telling the story to the magistrate.

We conclude, therefore, that the statute permits cross-examination of only those people actually called to the stand. In telling their story, they may use whatever admissible evidence they can to aid in their telling of the story. Admissible hearsay is just one of those aids.

Id. at 423-24.

The court of appeals again addressed this issue in *State v. Oliver*, 161 Wis. 2d 140, 467 N.W.2d 211 (Ct. App. 1991), a case in which the defendant was charged with physical abuse of a four-year-old child. At the preliminary hearing, the child was unable to communicate with the court and the court found that the child was not competent to testify. *Id.* at 142. The court then allowed the child's father to testify that the child told him that the defendant hit him. *Id.*

The court of appeals held that the child's statement was admissible under the residual hearsay exception. *Id.* at 143-48. In the course of that analysis, the court noted that the defendant "did not have a constitutional right of 'confrontation' at his preliminary examination." *Id.* at 146. The court of appeals then addressed and, relying on *Padilla*, rejected the defendant's claim that the admission of the hearsay violated his statutory right to confront the witnesses against him. The court wrote:

Oliver claims, however, that in declaring that A.S.B. was unavailable as a witness, the trial court denied him his statutory right to "confront" the witnesses against him. Section 970.03(5), Stats., provides: "All witnesses shall be sworn and their testimony reported by a phonographic reporter. The defendant may cross-examine witnesses against him. . . ." In *State v. Padilla*, 110 Wis. 2d 414, 424, 329 N.W.2d 263 (Ct. App. 1982), we held that sec. 970.03(5) "permits cross-examination of only those people actually called to the stand." We reasoned that if hearsay evidence is admissible, it may be used by the witness as a "probative building block" in telling the witness's plausible story to the magistrate. As long as the witness may be cross-examined, the defendant's rights under sec. 970.03(5) are protected. Oliver had no right under the statute to "confront" the hearsay declarant. *See Id.* at 426, 329 N.W.2d at 270.

Id. at 148-49.

Butts' brief does not cite, much less discuss, *Mitchell*, *Padilla* or *Oliver*. Instead, citing *State v. White*, 2008 WI App 96, 312 Wis. 2d 799, 754 N.W.2d 214, he asserts that "[t]he defendant's right to cross-examine witnesses at a preliminary

hearing to test the plausibility of statements of the witness' account is deprived if the State is allowed to offer hearsay evidence with an officer reading the statement of the complainant." Butts' brief at 5.

White does not support Butts' constitutional claim. Describing the *statutory* right to cross-examination, *White* reaffirmed the principle that "[a]lthough the defendant has the right to cross-examine witnesses at a preliminary hearing, Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5), the scope of cross-examination is limited to issues of plausibility of the State's witnesses' accounts." *White*, 312 Wis. 2d 799, ¶13. *White* says nothing about any *constitutional* right to confrontation at the preliminary hearing. *See id.* ¶¶7-17.

The O'Briens argue that this court's holding in *Mitchell* that defendants do not have a constitutional right to confrontation at preliminary hearings "was based on a misreading of *Gerstein v. Pugh*," and ask the court to "revisit *Mitchell* and withdraw that language." O'Briens' brief at 36. But *Mitchell*'s holding is consistent with a long line of United States Supreme Court cases that hold that "the right to confrontation is a *trial* right." *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 52 (1987) (emphasis in original); *see also California v. Green*, 399 U.S. 149, 157 (1970) ("[I]t is this literal right to 'confront' the witness *at the time of trial* that forms the core of the values furthered by the Confrontation Clause") (emphasis added); *Barber v. Page*, 390 U.S. 719, 725 (1968) ("The right to confrontation is basically a trial right."). As Professor LaFave explains:

All jurisdictions grant the defense a right to cross-examine those witnesses presented by the prosecution at the

preliminary hearing. This right is based on local law; the Supreme Court has long held that cross-examination at a preliminary hearing is not required by the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment.

4 Wayne R. LaFave *et al.*, *Criminal Procedure*, § 14.4(c), at 352 (3rd ed. 2007) (footnotes omitted).

Consistent with this precedent, courts in other jurisdictions have upheld the constitutionality of statutes comparable to Wis. Stat. § 970.038 as well as the constitutionality of probable cause determinations based on hearsay. *See, e.g., Peterson v. California*, 604 F.3d 1166, 1169-70 (9th Cir. 2010); *People v. Blackman*, 414 N.E.2d 246, 247-48 (Ill. Ct. App. 1980); *Sheriff v. Witzenburg*, 145 P.3d 1002, 1004-05 (Nev. 2006); *Wilson v. State*, 655 P.2d 1246, 1250-54 (Wyo. 1982); *see also State v. Timmerman*, 218 P.3d 590, 594 n.2 (Utah 2009) (collecting cases).

In *Peterson*, the Ninth Circuit considered a challenge to California Proposition 115, which added constitutional and statutory language that permitted a probable cause determination at a preliminary hearing to be based on hearsay evidence presented by a qualified investigative officer. *See Peterson*, 604 F.3d at 1168. Peterson's primary contention was that Proposition 115 deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses at a preliminary hearing. *See id.* at 1169.

The Ninth Circuit rejected that argument. The court first noted that “the preliminary hearing itself is not constitutionally mandated.” *Id.* It observed that, “in the federal system, all felonies are prosecuted by indictment, *see* U.S. Const. amend V, and hearsay is admissible in

proceedings before the grand jury which result in the return of indictments.” *Id.* (citing *Costello v. United States*, 350 U.S. 359, 363-64 (1956)). “As the preliminary hearing itself is not constitutionally required,” the court concluded, “it follows that there are no constitutionally-required procedures governing the admissibility of hearsay at preliminary hearings.” *Id.*

Second, the court observed, “the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that the right to confrontation is basically a trial right.” *Id.* The court concluded that “under the Supreme Court’s Confrontation Clause jurisprudence, Peterson was entitled to confront witnesses against him at trial, which he did. He was not constitutionally entitled to confront them at his preliminary hearing.” *Id.* at 1169-70.

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